

























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































TABLE 1. Beasley Mound Ceramics.

Beasley Mounds

Test Unit
Mound Mound South North North
1 1 Central | Central East
Summit Flank “Ridge” | “Ridge” | “Ridge” | Periphery | Feat

Provenience A F B |C E G H [ J 1 Total
Limestone tempered plain 3 1 1 1 2 4 12
Limestone tempered cordmarked 2 1 3
Mississippi Plain 1 8| 19 | 13 4 135 2 10 192
Bell Plain 1 1 1 2
Kimmswick Fabric Impressed 4
Shell and limestone tempered plain 1 1 2 2
Shell and limestone cordmarked body 13 15
Shell tempered cordmarked/

smoothed over cordmarked 4 2 28 35
Shell tempered checkstamped 1 3 3 41 2 50
Shell tempered, unidentified incised 1 1 2
Shell tempered, unidentified impressed 2 2
Shell tempered cordmarked and red filmed 1 1
Shell tempered, red on buff 1 2 3
Shell tempered, white wash or slip 1 1
Gritty paste, no apparent temper 1 3 4
Fine paste, no apparent temper 1 1 1 3
Total 2| 16|27 |29 6 231 4 2 11 13 341

deliberate earthwork construction was
noted, and relatively few artifacts were
recovered. Although clearly additional
investigations would be necessary to
confirm, the results from this unit tend to
support Myer's notion that the ridges
surrounding the “plaza” are primarily a by-
product of borrowing “fill” from the interior
than adding “fill” to create ridges.

Western Periphery. Test Unit | was
placed to the west/southwest of Mound 1
on a relatively flat area. The unit
contained dark black midden from the
plowzone base down to about 40 cm. Two
limestone tempered plain body sherds
were identified in this unit as well as
significant amounts of lithics, burned
limestone, and faunal remains. A possible
posthole was identified at the base of the
excavation unit.

Northeastern Periphery. Test Unit J
was placed approximately 20 meters east
of Test Unit G to determine if the midden

continued in this direction. The midden
was not noted in this unit, and artifacts
were very sparse.

Artifact Assemblage

Although our focus here is on the
ceramic assemblage, some brief notes on
the overall artifact assemblage are
warranted. One of the most striking
features of the Beasley Mounds
assemblage is the large quantity of
freshwater shell present in the midden --
nearly three kilograms were recovered
(over 0.7 kg of mussel shell and over 2.2
kg of gastropods) with the majority from
Test Unit G. This concentration facilitated
the excellent preservation of nearly 0.5
gm of bone fragments in the Test Unit G
midden.

A total of 2,693 lithic artifacts was
recovered, most of which are chert flakes
and other stone tool manufacturing debris.
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Three Dover chert flakes represent a clear
non-local stone resource in the sample.
Six projectile point fragments were
recovered (including the base of a
Mississippian triangular point), along with
six biface fragments, an abrader, and a
hammerstone.

The Beasley ceramics (n=341) are
clearly distinct from any Mississippian
period assemblage previously examined
from the Cumberland River portion of the
Central Basin (Table 1). While the
majority of the ceramics were plain
surfaced, significant percentages are
cordmarked/smoothed-over cordmarked
(15%), and check-stamped (15%), along
with a minor representation of fabric-
impressed pans (1.5%). Figures 12-13
illustrate the distribution of temper type
and surface decoration.

Shell-tempered cordmarked ceramics
(Figure 14) are known from Central Basin
Mississippian ceramic assemblages, but
appear to derive almost entirely from
components that pre-date A.D. 1200
(Spears et al. 2008). Most distinctive in
the Beasley assemblage is the presence
of shell-tempered sherds exhibiting
square and diamond shaped check-
stamping (Figure 15). This type of surface
treatment on shell-tempered ceramics is
virtually unknown from the Central Basin,
although two small check-stamped sherds
were recovered at the Rutherford-Kizer
Mounds (Moore and Smith 2001). In
addition, several sherds of shell-tempered
red-filmed ceramics were recovered at the
site from both the Mound 1 and midden
contexts (Figure 16). Red-filmed surface
treatments are even rarer than check-
stamping in Central Basin assemblages.

Discussion

The Beasley Mounds ceramic
assemblage is clearly distinct from the

Beasley Mounds CeramicTemper
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FIGURE 12. Temper/inclusions of Beasley
Mound ceramics.
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FIGURE 13. Surface treatment of Beasley
and Castalian Springs ceramics.

FIGURE 14. Shell tempered cordmarked
ceramic sherds. Top right from column
sample, top middle and left from Test Unit F,
lower right and left found in Test Unit G.
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previously  defined Middle
Cumberland assemblages in
the heart of the Central Basin.
The question then becomes
whether the distinctiveness is a
result of chronological or
cultural factors (or both). The
single radiocarbon date from
Beasley Mounds is well within
the range of dates obtained
from Castalian Springs, the
mound site 22 km to the west
(Beahm et al. 2010). In the
larger picture, the Beasley
Mounds ceramic assemblage
not only contrasts with that of
Castalian Springs, but also
contrasts strongly with ceramics
assemblages at any known
point in time in the Middle
Cumberland  region. When
present, shell-tempered cord-
marking makes up <1% of
surface treatments. Further,
very few Middle Cumberland
sites yield any shell-tempered
check-stamped sherds. For
example, the Rutherford Kizer
assemblage contained only six
examples of shell-tempered
cordmarked and two specimens
of shell-tempered check-
stamped ceramics out of the
over 9500  shell-tempered
sherds recovered from modern
excavations (Moore and Smith
2001).

The Beasley Mounds
ceramic assemblage is more
similar to Mississippian
assemblages in the upper
Tennessee River Valley such
as DeArmond and Hiwassee
Island based on the abundance
of cordmarking and red-filmed
surface treatments, but check-

Beasley Mounds

FIGURE 15. Shell tempered check stamped ceramic
sherds from Test Unit G.

FIGURE 16. Red Filmed ceramic sherds. Left and top
sherds from Test Unit G, sherd on right from Test Unit F.
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stamping at these sites is
much less common or

Cordmarked Ceramic Frequency

absent (Koerner 2005; Lewis

and Kneberg 1946). In the

Norris Basin area in northern

Tennessee, James Griffin

reported cordmarking pres-

%0 cord marked of shell termpered
sherds
o

ent on shell-tempered sherds

C il

from several sites (Griffin
1938:302). Two examples of
shell-tempered check-stamp-

Castalian  Rutherford
Sprinogs

T T T T T 1
Jewvell mMoss Beasley Croley Rowena
Kizer Mounds hiounds Evans
Sites

ed sherds were found and
red-filmed ceramics were
present in small quantities at
four sites (Griffin 1938:305).

FIGURE 17. Cord Marked ceramic frequency at selected sites
(comparative data from Hanson 1970; Jefferies et al 1996;
Moore Smith 2001;Weinland 1980).

In addition, very limited
testing at the Frogge Mound

Check-Stamped Ceramic Frequency

and Village site (40FN180)

R
o o0

on the northern Cumberland

Plateau produced a total

R

ceramic assemblage of one

shell-tempered cordmarked

B check stamped of she |
tempered sherds

sherd (Site Information Files,

[ ST R S

ll

Tennessee Division of
Archaeology). o
Although few of the

Castalian Rutherfard-

Rowena Croley Moss Jevell
Hizer Evanz fMounds

Sites

Beasley
Mound=s

Mississippian sites on the
Cumberland River east of
the Beasley Mounds in
Tennessee have been
investigated, some poten-
tially comparable Mississippian assem-
blages have been identified along the
upper Cumberland River in Kentucky.
Investigations at the Rowena Mounds
(15RU27; Weinland 1980) yielded
significant quantities of shell-tempered
cordmarked (cf. McKee Island
Cordmarked) and shell-tempered check-
stamped (cf. Wolf Creek Check-Stamped)
ceramics. Red-filmed ceramics were not
observed in the Rowena assemblage,
although a few sherds of probable black-
filmed ceramics were noted. More recent
excavations at the Croley-Evans site
(15KX24; Jefferies 2001; Jefferies et al.

FIGURE 18. Check Stamped ceramic frequency at selected
sites (comparative data from Hanson 1970; Jefferies et al
1996; Moore and Smith 2001;Weinland 1980).

1996) also yielded ceramics comparable
to the Beasley Mounds assemblage,
including shell-tempered plain, cord-
marked, check-stamped, fabric im-
pressed, and red-flmed examples (Figure
17-18).

The ceramic assemblage suggests
that the occupants of the Beasley Mounds
were not closely affiliated with sites to the
west. Current observations suggest closer
affiliations with Mississippian groups to
the east and north in the upper
Cumberland and Norris Basin region
(Webb 1938).°
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Conclusion

The 2008 Beasley Mounds
Archaeological Project provides some of
the first detailed evidence for a
Mississippian presence in the eastern
Highland Rim distinct from the better
defined “Middle Cumberland”
Mississippian sites of the Central Basin.
Prior  definitons of the “Middle
Cumberland region” placed the eastern
boundary at approximately the mouth of
the Caney Fork River (Moore and Smith
2001). Results of the investigations at
Beasley Mounds and other sites in the
vicinity suggest that the boundary is more
accurately somewhere between the
mouth of Dixon Creek and Spring Creek.
Ongoing research along the eastern edge
of the Middle Cumberland Region
promises to expand our understanding of
these ceramic differences and further
explore their sociopolitical implications.®

Notes

! The unpublished notes and manuscripts of

William Edward Myer are curated by the
National Anthropological Archives, Smith-
sonian Institution, Smithsonian  Support
Center, Suitland, Maryland. Materials relevant
to the Beasley Mounds are in two collections.
NAA 2570, includes a large number of
documents in a “Subject File” apparently
maintained by Myer from the late 1800s
through his death in 1923. The Beasley
Mounds notes were filed in Volume 2, M-Z
under the subject heading of “Mounds” and
are undated. NAA 2566 is Myer's planned
magnum opus titled “Stone Age Man in the
Middle South,” with various portions dating
between 1917 and his death in 1923.

Subsequent to the 2008 project, Mr. Beasley
removed the majority of trees from Mound 1
and the core of the site to reduce future
impacts to intact archaeological deposits from
root growth and treefalls.

University of Tennessee Center for
Archaeometry and Geochronology. Radio-
carbon years before present 730 + 70
(UTCAG 08-023 V1; charcoal; 613C=-25.9 +

Beasley Mounds

0.02 per mil). Calibrated range using
OxCal4.0: A.D. 1220-1380 (1 S.D.); A.D.
1160-1400 (2 S.D.).

As this article went to press, an additional
radiocarbon date of A.D. 1340 from the 2008
excavations was obtained from carbonized
wood from the midden in Test Unit G. The
sample was from beneath the plowzone (20-
40 cmbs) and approximately 15-35 cm above
the possible wall trench. Beta 323839: Radio-
carbon years before present 660 + 30 (613C=-
25.3 = 0.00 per mil). Calibrated range using
OxCal4.0: A.D. 1285-1306 (p=0.49) and 1363-
1385 (p=0.51) (1 S.D.); A.D. 1278-1322
(p=0.50) and 1347-1392 (p=0.50) (2 S.D.).
Funding for this date was provided by the
Tennessee Historical Commission through a
grant to Dr. Tanya M. Peres (Middle
Tennessee State University) and Aaron Deter-
Wolf (Tennessee Division of Archaeology).

Although not reported here in detail, additional
excavations in 2011 at the Beasley Mounds
expanded the ceramic sample considerably,
and confirm the distinctive nature of the
assemblage. In addition, excavations during
2011 at the nearby Moss Mounds site
(40SM25) in Smith County yielded a distinctive
ceramic assemblage comparable to that noted
at Beasley (Beahm 2012).

® with encouragement from Tom “Wish”
Beasley, information resulting from the 2008
test excavations was used to nominate the
Beasley Mounds to the National Register of
Historic Places. The site was listed (NR#
10000465) in the National Register on July 16,
2010.
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DISCOVERY AND EARLY INVESTIGATIONS OF THE DOVER
QUARRIES BY PARMENIO E. COX AND WARREN K. MOOREHEAD,
1926-1932

Kevin E. Smith

The “Dover Flint Quarries’

of Stewart County, Tennessee have achieved an almost

mythological status in the archaeological literature, based primarily on the widespread
distribution of hypertrophic weapons and “ eccentric flints’ made from this high-grade chert
during the Mississippian period. Recent historical research suggests that the Dover quarry sites
were first formally identified and investigated by Warren K. Moorehead (Curator of the
Department of Archaeology at Phillips Academy, Andover, Massachusetts) and Parmenio E. Cox
(Tennessee'sfirst official State Archaeologist) between 1926 and 1932.

Warren King Moorehead (Figure 1) is
best known for his explorations at
numerous Ohio mound sites, Cahokia in
lllinois, and at the Etowah in Georgia
(Byers 1939; Guthe 1939; Kelly 2000).
Moorehead appears to have become
interested in quarry sites along the
Cumberland River as a byproduct of his
discovery of an enormous deposit of flint
discs at the Hopewell mound site in Ohio
(Figure 2):

The largest deposit [of flint discs was in
Mound number 22 of the Hopewell group,
and from this we took out 7532 flint discs
about six inches in diameter and a half
inch thick... in 1891-2... Squier and Davis
had taken out about six hundred in 1845,
and prior to our official count, we gave to
Mr. Hopewell and others about fifty, so the
grand total was nearly eighty-five
hundred... (Moorehead 1910:218)

In April 1903, he led a survey of part of
the lower Cumberland River valley --
excavating over 100 graves at a stone-
box cemetery site on the Willis farm in
Hopkinsville, Kentucky. After ending that
exploration, he travelled upriver into
Tennessee on a barge with his “negro
laborers” where he investigated an
approximately 50-acre flint quarry on the

Johnson farm in Montgomery County,
Tennessee about 18 miles from
Hopkinsville (Figures 3-4).

Moorehead seems to have been quite
excited by the discovery of the quarry site:
“This was a very important discovery, as
nodular flint had not been previously
found in Tennessee in any considerable
guantities, so far as the writer is aware”
(1906:126). He went on to describe the
context of his interest as follows:

. Mr. Fowke and other searchers have
been unable to find any large quarry from
which the gray or bluish nodular flint was
obtained. That is, flint in particular of the
same character as the Hopewell discs. An
examination of the Montgomery county
deposit will reveal the same kind of
material as that found in the Hopewell
mound... The nodules vary from ten to
twenty cm. in diameter, with a coating of
grayish chalk-like formation on the exterior,
and within are of the same color and
appearance as the Hopewell discs...
Continued searching in the Clarksville
region (northwestern Tennessee) may
result in the discovery of much larger
deposits.... (Moorehead 1906:131).

A later description of the same
expedition underlines his conviction
(albeit incorrect) that the Cumberland
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River was the source of much of the
Ohio Valley chert:

Many vyears later | discovered the
guarries on Little River, Tennessee,
eighteen miles south of Hopkinsville,
Kentucky, whence, | am persuaded, this
flint was obtained. It was of the nodular
variety, gray-blue in character, and could
be easily worked. The quarry showed signs
of extensive working... After a thorough
investigation | concluded that the ancient
people had quarried this flint, worked it
down to convenient disc form for
distribution, and taking it in canoes down
the Little River to the Cumberland, down
the Cumberland to the Ohio, up the Ohio to
the Scioto, and then to North Fork of Paint
Creek, landed it one half mile from the
Hopewell village. The distance by water
would be seven or eight hundred miles, as
near as | can judge (Moorehead 1910:218-
220).

Although quarries closer to the Ohio
mounds have since been identified as

Dover Quarries

FIGURE 1. Warren K. Moorehead, 1898
(frontispiece Moorehead 1910).

o~

FIGURE 2. Flint discs (7,232) from a mound of the Hopewell Group (Moorehead 1910)
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FIGURE 3. Ravine at Johnson's Farm Near Herndon, Tennessee. The nodules
are seen outcropping in two layers (Moorehead 1906).

FIGURE 4. A ledge in which are flint nodules. Johnson's
farm, near Herndon, Tennessee (Moorehead 1910).

more likely sources of the Hopewell site
discs, Moorehead's interest in the chert
sources of the Cumberland River valley
was to continue for nearly three decades,
eventually involving Parmenio Edward
Cox during the late 1920s and early
1930s.

In 1924, P.E. Cox picked up the reins
to become the most visible individual in
Tennessee archaeology after the death of
William E. Myer in late 1923 (Figure 5;
Smith 1998, 1999, 2008ab). That year,
Governor Austin Peay appointed P.E. Cox
as the first “official” State Archaeologist
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for Tennessee, a position he held until his
death in 1932 (Smith 1999). Cox was born
in Williamson County near Franklin on
September 19, 1865 and spent his
boyhood at “Coralto,” the family estate on
Cox Pike. After receiving his law degree
from the Cumberland School of Law in
Lebanon (then one of two dozen or so
university law schools in the country), Cox
worked for the United States land office
for several years. Later, he returned to
Tennessee to focus his interests on
creation of the State Library and Archives

and State Museum, along with
archaeological preservation issues
(Obituary, Review Appeal, Franklin

Tennessee, October 27, 1932). Working
in cooperation at the national level with
Jesse Walter Fewkes and A.V. Kidder,
Cox extended a call in August 1924 for
the creation of a new organization - the
Tennessee Archaeological Society. The
organizational meeting was held in the
Senate chamber at the state capitol on
November 17, 1924 (Smith 2008b).
Moorehead was in Europe during this
organizational meeting, but made his first
contact with Cox in November 1925
concerning future work in Tennessee:

a short time ago, Dr. [A.V.] Kidder told me
of his interesting trip to Tennessee last
year when | was in Europe... the death of
our mutual friend Myer was a heavy blow
to me both personally and professionally...
| would like to come up from Etowah and
see you about the middle of March and go
out with you... | hope you will be able to go
about with me and help in the work, our
academy will of course to pay your
expenses (Tennessee State Library and
Archives, Record Group 27, Box 2, Folder
10).

As Moorehead's Etowah (8BR1)
excavations continued in 1925-1926, he
made a number of discoveries that would
lead him to further communications with

Dover Quarries

FIGURE 5. Parmenio Edward Cox, ca. 1926
(Tennessee State Library and Archives).

Cox. His excavation of spectacular “flint”
swords made from a mysterious and
unknown chert further stimulated his
interests in exploring the source of this
material (Figure 6). As he noted with
regard to his first discoveries at Etowabh:

with the first burial, which was enclosed in
a very neat stone box, and contained a
decayed skeleton at full length, was a flint
sword, ceremonial implement, twenty-six
and one-fourth inches in length... It is
beautifully chipped, and is said to be the
third or fourth largest flint implement in the
world. A number of similar objects,
apparently made by the same clan or
master artist in flint chipping, were
discovered years ago on Duck River,
Tennessee. The longest was twenty-eight
inches... It is extremely difficult to find any
clear flint in blocks of such length, and the
guarry from which the Indians obtained the
material to make these extraordinary
blades has never been discovered (Ohio
Historical Society, Warren King Moorehead
Papers, MSS 106, Box 4, Folder 38).
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FIGURE 6. Dover "swords" on display at
Etowah Mounds Museum, April 2008.

Moorehead did make it to Nashville in
March 1926, where he presented the
evening address on March 24 to a joint
meeting of the Tennessee Academy of
Science and Tennessee Archaeological
Society hosted by P.E. Cox (Smith 1999,
2008b). Moorehead's identification of the
Tennessee-Cumberland region as the
source area for this mysterious flint was
reinforced during that visit when he either
remember or was informed of two sword-
sized Dover chert preforms from
Tennessee housed in the Peabody
Museum of American Archaeology and
Ethnology at Harvard University. C.C.
Willoughby, then Director of the Peabody
Museum, sent a telegram (March 31,
1926) to Moorehead at Etowah titled
“Burial Mound A.J. Stall's farm one mile
above Dover Stuart [sic] County 1879”
providing information on their
provenience.

In 1879, Edwin Curtiss, working for
Frederic Ward Putnam and the Peabody

Museum, visited several sites in Stewart
County, including A.J. Stall's farm.
Excerpts from his fieldnotes and
correspondence describe the preforms
and their source as two different sites
near Stalls farm (Moore and Smith 2009):

On the large mound in Mr. Banister's
field | found three large flints that were two
feet long or over | saved one and put the
other two away | can't tell for what purpose
they were used for they are all one shape
and about one length but don't show
evidence of use and | came to the
conclusion that they were for making
smaller tools out of... Since | left Dover |
found one at the Wests and will send it with
the one from Dover and | want your
opinion on the big flints please give it...

. | got one large flint here [at Dr.
West's farm] that is in a rough state that is
over two ft long it was used by the old ones
for some purpose but for what is more than
| can tell unless for a plough. | also got one
from Mr. Banister's field whare | left two
others on account of their being so heavy
that is ten miles below Indian Mound...

With this clue in hand, Moorehead
corresponded further to obtain the
assistance of P.E. Cox for information
about the location where these objects
had been found (Figures 7-8).

In May 1926, Cox wrote to Moorehead
in Cartersville following up on their earlier
conversations:

In regard to the flint slabs shipped to
Harvard University at Cambridge, Mass. in
compliance with your request, on my first
trip to Dover, understanding that these
slabs were said to have been procured at
the A.J. Stalls farm, one mile above Dover,
| went to the office of the Register of Deeds
and found the location of A.J. Stalls farm,
which is across the river and one and one-
half miles up the river from Dover. | made
an examination of this area but was unable
to find any indication of quarried or natural
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FIGURE 7. "Dover" chert preform ("25 inches in length") from Stalls Farm near Dover collected
by Edwin Curtiss (Peabody Museum 79-4-18338; Photograph, William Edward Myer Collection,

Courtesy Samuel D. Smith).

flint deposit, either nodular or stratified. |
interviewed a number of the oldest citizens
and was unable to get any definite
information. One gentleman, Mr. Sam
Dabbs, whose address is Dover,
Tennessee, who is much interested in
Archaeology, stated to me that he had
some indistinct recollection that some
slabs were shipped from Dover by the
father of Harry Johnson, of Clarksville,
Tennessee, but | was unable to get any
information as to where the slabs were
procured. There being no railroad at Dover,
and Cumberland River being used to make
shipments | made inquiry of the boat lines
but was unable to find any record of such
shipment. These slabs may have been
shipped by rail from Cumberland City or
Erin, both of which are on the L&N
Railroad, and within easy distance of
Dover. | found on a portion of what was
originally the A.J. Stalls farm very
interesting burying grounds, and opened a
number of graves, report of which will be

sent as early date as possible. It is my
judgement that if these flint slabs came
from this area they were most likely found
on what is known as Cain Hollow on land
of Brigham (Tennessee State Library and
Archives, Record Group 27, Box 2, Folder
10).

Cox described his second trip to Dover as
follows:
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| did not have the opportunity to
carefully examine the reputed site of the
flint quarry on my first visit to Dover... | was
there last week and made a careful
examination using two and one-half days,
and found as follows: The land is on Long
Creek about four miles east of Dover,
Tennessee, and about one mile south of
the highway leading from Erin to Dover,
land belongs and Chas. Brigham and is the
property formerly known as the Stacker
place. There is an area of about one
hundred and twenty five acres, all of which
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